IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS

FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 95-50470
Summary Cal endar

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,

ver sus

RI CHARD M ANCI RA,
Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court for the
Western District of Texas
(A-95- CA- 225)

March 25, 1996
Bef ore GARWOOD, JONES and DeMOSS Circuit Judges.”’

GARWOOD, Circuit Judge:

Def endant - appel l ant Richard M Ancira (Ancira) pleaded guilty
to the charge of possession with intent to distribute nore than 100
grans of heroin in violation of 21 US C 8§ 841(a)(1). Hi s
convi ction and sentence were affirnmed on appeal. Ancira presently
appeals the district court’s denial of his notion to vacate, set

aside or correct his sentence, filed pursuant to 28 U S.C. 8§ 2255.

Pursuant to Local Rule 47.5, the Court has determ ned that
this opinion should not be published and is not precedent except
under the Ilimted circunstances set forth in Local Rule 47.5. 4.



W affirm

Facts and Proceedi ngs Bel ow

Ancira was arrested on Decenmber 11, 1990, in Austin, Texas.
A confidential informant alerted the Austin Police Departnent that
Ancira was a heroin dealer who had previously sold heroin to the
informant. After giving the police a description of Ancira and his
vehicle, the i nformant contacted Ancira and arranged to purchase an
ei ght h of one ounce of heroin. The police, who had al ready pl aced
Ancira’s vehicle wunder surveillance based on the informant’s
description, observed Ancira | eave the resi dence fromwhi ch he had
arranged this neeting with the informant. Wen Ancira arrived at
t he desi gnated neeting place, and the informant confirnmed Ancira’s
identity, the police determ ned that they had probabl e cause and
arrested Ancira. Ancira was searched incident to his arrest, and
police officers found thirty-three ball oons of heroin and $1,680 in
cash. Ancira then disclosed the |ocation of additional heroin at
his residence, and, after obtaining a search warrant based on this
information, the police uncovered anot her 487 ball oons of heroin.
The total amount of heroin seized incident to Ancira’s arrest and
at his residence was 108. 89 grans.

Ancira was charged with conspiracy to possess with intent to
distribute nore than 100 grans of heroin (count one), in violation

of 21 U S.C. 88 841(a)(1l) and 846, and possession with intent to



distribute nore than 100 grans of heroin (count twd), in violation
of 21 U S.C. 8§ 841(a)(1). He conplained that the police did not
have probable cause to arrest him but the district court denied
his notion to suppress the evidence obtained incident to his
arrest. Thereafter, Ancira entered into a conditional plea
agreenent whereby he would plead guilty to the second count of his
indictment while preserving his right to appeal the district
court’s denial of his notion to suppress. The district court
sentenced Ancira to a 240-nonth termof inprisonnent, a 5-year term
of supervised rel ease, and inposed a $50 nandatory assessnent.

Anci ra appeal ed his conviction and sentence to this Court, and
we affirnmed, see United States v. Ancira, No. 91-8503 (5th Gr.
March 19, 1992) (unpublished), holding that the district court did
not err (1) in denying Ancira’'s notion to suppress, and (2) in
considering Ancira’s prior state convictions in deciding to enhance
his sentence as a “career offender” under the sentencing
guidelines. Id.?

Anci ra subsequently, on April 20, 1995, filed in the district
court the instant notion under 28 U S.C. 8§ 2255 to vacate, set
aside, or correct his sentence. In that notion, Ancira clained

that he was denied effective assistance of counsel,? that the

. In his direct appeal to this Court, Ancira challenged his
conviction and sentence in only these two respects.

2 Specifically, Ancira asserted that his counsel’s perfornmance
was deficient in that counsel: (1) failed to properly investigate
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district court violated Rule 11 during his rearrai gnnment, and that
t he governnent breached the plea agreenent. Ancira al so raised
several issues relating to application of the sentencing guidelines
and the statutory requirenent that notice be given to a defendant
of the governnent’s intent to seek enhancenent of the defendant’s
sentence prior to the defendant’s entry of a guilty plea. The
district court denied Ancira’s notion. Ancira now appeals.
Di scussi on

It iswell-settledthat a collateral challenge to a conviction
or sentence “may not do service for an appeal.” United States v.
Frady, 102 S.Ct. 1584, 1593, reh’'g denied, 102 S.Ct. 2287 (1982);
see also United States v. Wal ker, 68 F.3d 931, 934 (5th Gr. 1995).

“[Tlo obtain collateral relief a prisoner nust clear a

significantly higher hurdle than would exist on direct

appeal. . . . [T]o obtain collateral relief based on

trial errors to which no contenporaneous objection was

made, a convicted defendant nust show both (1) ‘cause

excusi ng his doubl e procedural default, and (2) ‘actual
prejudice’ resulting from the errors of which he

conpl ains.” Frady, 102 S. C. at 1593-94 (footnote
omtted).
It is also clear that an appellate court will not consider a
section 2255 claimraised for the first time on appeal. Uni t ed

Ancira’s prior convictions and challenge the application of the
sentenci ng gui delines’ “career offender” provisions; (2) failedto
investigate and raise the issue of Ancira’s nental conpetence; (3)
failed to request a downward departure based on Ancira s nenta
state; (4) failed to request a downward departure for Ancira’s
acceptance of responsibility after the “career of fender” provisions
were determned to be applicable; and (5) failed to adequately
inform Ancira of the possible (sentencing) repercussions of his
guilty plea.



States v. MKnight, 693 F.2d 476, 476 (5th Cr. 1982). Finally,
this Court has observed that a section 2255 petitioner may bring a
collateral challenge only wupon “issues of <constitutional or
jurisdictional magnitude.” United States v. Shaid, 937 F.2d 228,
232 (5th Cr. 1991)(citation omtted), cert. denied, 112 S.C. 978
(1992). If a petitioner presents an error that is not of such
magni tude, then he nust show that the error “could not have been
raised on direct appeal and would, if condoned, result in a
conplete mscarriage of justice.” Wilker, 68 F.3d at 934 (citation
omtted); see also H Il v. United States, 82 S.Ct. 468, 471, reh’' g
denied, 82 S.Ct. 640 (1962) (section 2255 relief is avail able only
if the alleged error is a “fundanental defect which inherently
results in a conplete mscarriage of justice . . . [and] present]s]
‘“exceptional circunstances where the need for the renedy afforded

by the wit of habeas corpus is apparent’”) (citation omtted).
In reviewing a district court’s denial of a section 2255
motion, this Court reviews the district court’s factual findings
for clear error, and questions of |law are revi ewed de novo. United
States v. G pson, 985 F.2d 212, 214 (5th Cr. 1993).
l. | neffective Assistance of Counsel
Ancira contends that he was denied effective assistance of
counsel in several respects relating to his conviction and

sent ence. To obtain section 2255 relief based on a claim of

i neffective assi stance of counsel, a petitioner nust show not only



that his attorney’ s performance was deficient, but also that the
deficiency prejudiced the defense. United States v. Smth, 915
F.2d 959, 963 (5th Cr. 1990). In order to denobnstrate such a
deficiency, the petitioner nust prove that counsel’s performance
fell bel ow an objective standard of reasonabl eness. Strickland v.
Washi ngton, 104 S. . 2052, 2064, reh’g denied, 104 S. C. 3562
(1984). To prove that the deficiency prejudiced the defense, the
petitioner nust denonstrate a “reasonable probability” that, *but
for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding
woul d have been different.” 1d. at 2068. This two-part anal ysis
applies equally to clains of ineffective assistance of counse
arising out of the plea process. Hill v. Lockhart, 106 S.Ct. 366,
370 (1985). Accordingly, the petitioner nust establish a
reasonabl e probability that, but for counsel’s all eged failures and
m srepresentations, the petitioner “would not have pleaded guilty
and woul d have insisted on going to trial.” Czere v. Butler, 833
F.2d 59, 63 (5th Gr. 1987) (citation omtted).

A Failure to Properly Investigate Ancira’'s Prior

Convi ctions and Chal |l enge the Application of the
Sentenci ng CGuidelines’ “Career Ofender” Provisions

First, Ancira contends that counsel failed to investigate the
prior convictions which were used to enhance his sentence. Ancira
suggests that, had counsel investigated these convictions, it would
have been plain that the convictions should have been consol i dat ed

and treated as a single conviction pursuant to US S G 8§



4A1. 2(a)(2); such a consolidation woul d have prohi bited application
of the enhancenent provisions of U S.S.G 8§ 4B1. 1. Ancira ignores
the fact that his | awer raised this issue at sentenci ng, however,
which clearly collapses this allegation.

Second, Ancira argues that counsel failed to challenge the
application of the sentencing guidelines’ “career offender”
provi sions. This issue, however, was addressed in Ancira’s direct
appeal . We found that Ancira had four prior felony convictions
upon which the district court properly based its decision to apply
the “career offender” provisions of US S.G § 4B1.1. W further
held that Ancira had failed to provide any evidence that his prior
convi ctions had been consolidated, observing that sentences which
run concurrently and are inposed on the sane day are not required
to be consolidated for guideline purposes. United States wv.
Ancira, No. 91-8503 at 8-9 (5th Gr. March 19, 1992) (unpubli shed)
(citation omtted). It is well-settled that an issue which has
been raised and ruled upon adversely to a defendant on direct
appeal may not be relitigated in the context of a section 2255
nmoti on. United States v. MCollom 664 F.2d 56, 59 (5th Cr.

1981), cert. denied, 102 S. Ct. 1989 (1982).°

3 Furthernore, even if this Court were to address Ancira's
contention that his prior convictions should be consolidated, there
is no support for a finding that all of his prior convictions
shoul d be treated as a single offense. Ancira was convicted of two
(control |l ed substance) felonies that occurred i n February 1988, and
two (control |l ed substance) felonies occurring in July 1988. Ancira
pl eaded guilty to and was sentenced on the February charges in

7



B. Failure to Investigate and Rai se the |ssue of Mental
| nconpet ence

Ancira contends that he was nentally inconpetent to plead
guilty, a fact which counsel should have discovered and raised
before the trial court. Specifically, Ancira argues that counsel
shoul d have petitioned the district court for a downward departure
based on Ancira’ s “di m ni shed capacity”—+due to his docunent ed Post
Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD)“—pursuant to U S.S.G § 5K2.13.

In considering whether counsel was ineffective in the
sentencing phase followng a plea, “[A] court nust determne
whet her there is a reasonable probability that but for trial
counsel’s errors the defendant’s non-capital sentence would have
been significantly less harsh.” Spriggs v. Collins, 993 F.2d 85,

88 (5th Cr. 1993) (footnote omtted)(enphasis in original).

March 1988, and was convi cted and sentenced on the July charges in
Cct ober 1988. Under even the broadest construction of the
consol i dation provisions of U S.S.G 8§ 4A1.2(a)(2), the “March” and
“Qctober” convictions nust be viewed as separate for enhancenent
purposes. United States v. Ancira, No. 91-8503 at 8-10 (5th Cr
March 19, 1992) (unpublished). Therefore, wunder the “career
of fender” provisions of US. S.G § 4B1.1, Ancira has “at |east two
prior felony convictions of either a crine of violence or a
controll ed substance offense”, and was properly sentenced as a
“career offender”.

4 Ancira’s presentence report (PSR) of July 19, 1991, asserts
t hat Ancira has been di agnosed as suffering fromPTSD, a condition
whi ch causes Ancira to experience “pani c attacks,” severe anxiety,
hal | uci nati ons, and significant fluctuations in his blood pressure.
PSR {1 38. The PSR further indicates that Ancira failed to show up
at the inpatient psychological treatnent facility where he was to
have received nedical assistance with his psychol ogi cal and drug
problenms; his failure to report to this treatnment facility
constituted a violation of his parole. Id.
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US S G 8§ 5K2.13 provides that, “[A] lower sentence my be
warranted to reflect the extent to which reduced nental capacity
contributed to the comm ssion of the offense . . .” This Court has
clarified that, while a defendant’s reduced nental capacity need
not be the sole cause of the offense, it nust be a contributing
cause. See United States v. Soliman, 954 F.2d 1012, 1014 (5th Cr
1992). In the present case, Ancira fails to denonstrate how his
condition contributed in any way to his comm ssion of the offense
of convi cti on—possession of heroin with the intent to distribute.
Therefore, there exists no reasonabl e probability that, had counsel
urged the trial court to nmake a (section 5K2.13) downward departure
reflecting Ancira’ s “dimnished capacity,” the trial court would
have so departed fromthe applicabl e guideline range and i nposed a
significantly | ess harsh sentence than was actually inposed.?®

C. Failure to Request a Downward Departure for Ancira’s
Accept ance of Responsibility

Ancira contends that when the district court enhanced his

offense |evel pursuant to the “career offender” provisions of

5 Anci ra has al so suggested that he was deprived of a fair trial
because counsel failed to petition the district court to hold a
conpetency hearing. In light of the fact that the district court
asked Ancira at his rearrai gnnent whet her he had ever suffered from
any nental or physical inpairnents “that m ght affect [his] nenory
or judgnent or have any effect on [his] understanding of these
proceedi ngs?” —and Ancira responded that he had not—the district
court properly viewed Ancira as conpetent. Therefore, even if
counsel’s failure to petition the court for a conpetency hearing
were ot herwi se cogni zable, the district court’s inquiry into this
matter rendered any inpact of such a failure harnl ess.
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US S G 8 4B1.1, counsel should have sought the two-Ievel
reduction to which Ancira was allegedly entitled under US. S.G 8§
3E1.1 for acceptance of responsibility. It appears fromthe PSR,
however, that Ancira did in fact receive this two-|evel reduction
under section 3El1.1, as the PSR, which was adopted by the district
court for sentencing purposes, inplicitly made this reduction. As
enhanced, the statutory maxi numfor Ancira s offense of conviction
was forty years. 21 U S.C 8§ 841(b)(1)(B). The offense |evel
corresponding to this maxi mum sentence under section 4Bl.1 is
thirty-four. The PSR however, assigned Ancira an of fense | evel of
thirty-two. Considering that the PSR reduced Ancira s pre-
enhancenent base offense |level by two levels “for Acceptance of
Responsibility”, it appears that the PSR sinply adjusted Ancira’s
enhanced offense |evel accordingly. See PSR T 15. Ther ef or e,
Ancira has no claimthat counsel’s performance was deficient, or

that there was prejudice, in this regard.

D. Failure to Adequately Inform Ancira of the Possible
Repercussions of Hs Quilty Plea

Ancira further contends that his qguilty plea was nade
involuntarily, as it was the product of counsel’s incorrect and
m sl eadi ng advi ce. Aside fromnaking this bald assertion, however,
Anci ra makes no argunent and advances no facts in support of this

contenti on:
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“Absent evidence in the record, a court cannot consider

a habeas petitioner’s bald assertions on a critical issue

in his pro se petition (in state and federal court),

unsupported and unsupportabl e by anyt hi ng el se cont ai ned

in the record, to be of probative value.” Ross .

Estelle, 694 F.2d 1008, 1011 (5th Gr. 1983) (footnote

omtted).®
In fact, counsel advised Ancira in a Mirch 4, 1991, letter
di scussing the plea agreenent that, “Neither | nor anyone el se for
that matter, can state with specific accuracy what the sentencing
authorities will recomend to the Court.”

Furthernore, Ancira testified in open court that he had not
been threatened, forced, or coerced into pleading guilty, nor had
anyone prom sed himanything other than what was contained in the
witten plea agreenent that he and his lawer had signed.
Accordingly, the district court found that Ancira’ s plea was freely
and voluntarily made, concluding that Ancira had received an
adequate opportunity to advise the court of any reservations or
m sunder st andi ngs he m ght have had regardi ng the plea agreenent.

Ancira offers no argunent or evidence to overcone the “form dabl e

barrier” to challenging these findings by the district court. See

6 Ancira al so asserts for the first tinme on appeal that counsel
failed to raise the issue that Ancira was entitled to noti ce—pri or
to entering his plea—that the governnent intended to seek
enhancenent pursuant to the “career offender” provisions of
US S G 8§84Bl1.1. This assertion, unacconpani ed by any support or
expl anation, |ikewise has no probative value in the present
cont ext .
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Bl ackl edge v. Allison, 97 S.C. 1621, 1629 (1977).°
1. Breach of Plea Agreenent

Ancira contends that the governnent breached the plea
agreenent in the present case because Ancira was assured that he
woul d not be charged as a “career offender.” This Court has noted
t hat :

“When a defendant pleads guilty on the basis of a prom se

by his defense attorney or the prosecutor, whether or not

such promse is fulfillable, breach of that prom se

taints the voluntariness of his plea.” Davis v. Butler,

825 F.2d 892, 894 (5th Cr. 1987) (quoting MKenzie v.
Wai nwi ght, 632 F.2d 649, 651 (5th G r. 1980)).

However, a nere “understanding” on the defendant’s part that he
woul d serve a | esser sentence—pursuant to the pl ea agreenent —t han
the one he ultimately received will not invalidate his guilty plea.
Self v. Blackburn, 751 F.2d 789, 792-93 (5th Gr. 1985). |In order
for an unkept plea bargain to constitute a basis for habeas relief,
the petitioner nust denonstrate: “(1) exactly what the terns of the
all eged prom se were; (2) exactly when, where, and by whom such a
prom se was nmade; and (3) the precise identity of an eyewtness to

the promse.” 1d. (quoting Hayes v. Maggi o, 699 F.2d 198, 203-204

! Apart fromhis ineffective assistance of counsel claiminthis
context, Ancira suggests that his guilty plea was not voluntary
because he was not aware that a greater sentence could be inposed.
The March 4, 1991, letter fromcounsel, supra, clearly should have
made Ancira aware that his sentence would ulti mately depend on “the
sentencing authorities” and the court; therefore, thereis no nerit
to Ancira’s claimthat his plea was i nvol untary because he received
a sentence—within the relevant guideline range—that was greater
t han he had hoped for.

12



(5th Gir. 1983)).

In relevant part, the witten plea agreenent in the present
case—signed by Ancira personally and by his attorney and the
Assistant United States Attorney—established that:

“The United States of Anerica . . . agrees not to pursue

further Title 21 or Title 18 offenses against this

defendant with regard to the facts known to the
governnent at the execution of this agreenent.

: The United States of Anmerica has nade no agreenent

w th t he def endant or his counsel concerning any possi bl e

sent ence.”

Thi s | anguage does not state or inply a prom se on the part of the
governnment not to charge Ancira as a “career offender” pursuant to
US S G 8 4B1.1 or not to recommend that he be so treated.

Furthernore, it was the probation office in Austin, Texas, and
not the U S. Attorney’s office, that reconmended application of the
“career offender” provisions in this case. See PSR § 29. The
probation office was not a signatory to the plea agreenent, so this
recommendat i on—whi ch was ulti mately adopted by the district court —
cannot be attributed to any party to the plea agreenent.

I11. Violation of Rule 11

Ancira argues that the district court violated Fed. R Crim
P. 11(c) in failing to adnonish him that he could receive a
sentence greater than that contenplated by the parties to the plea
agreenent . However, this alleged failure to conply with the

requi renents of Rule 11 constitutes neither a constitutional nor a

jurisdictional deficiency. United States v. Prince, 868 F.2d 1379,
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1385 (5th Gr.), cert. denied, 110 S.C. 321 (1989). Neither has
Ancira shown that this alleged failure to conply with Rule 11 could
not have been raised on direct appeal, nor that it “resulted in a
‘conplete mscarriage of justice’ or in a proceeding ‘inconsistent
with the rudinentary demands of fair procedure.’”” Id. (citation
omtted). Therefore, this allegation of error my not be
considered in a collateral attack under section 2255.8

| V. Governnent’s Failure to Gve Notice of Intent to Seek
Enhancenent

Anci ra contends that the governnent failed to file notice that
it intended to seek an enhancenent of his sentence, a violation of
21 U S.C § 851.° However, section 851 does not apply to a
def endant whose sentence 1is enhanced under the sentencing
guidelines—n this <case, pursuant to the <career offender

provisions of U S.S.G 8§ 4Bl1.1—as | ong as the enhanced sentence i s

8 The transcript of the rearrai gnnent hearing reflects that the
district court conplied wiwth the requirenents of Rule 11(c). The
court infornmed Ancira of the maximum sentence (forty years) he
faced, and directed that the terns of the plea agreenent be read
into the record. The court further explained that Ancira’s
sentence would ultinmately be determ ned by the court based on the
statutory qguideline range recommended by the probation office, a
gui deline range calculated with Ancira’s crimnal history in m nd.

o Ancira al so argues that the governnent’s enhancenent of his
sentence was prohi bited by the plea agreenent, which asserted that
the government would not pursue further Title 18 or Title 21
of f enses. Any argunent that the parties could have reasonably
understood this assertion to extend to enhancenent of Ancira’s
sentence under U S.S.G 8 4Bl1.1 collapses in light of the
i mredi ately follow ng provisioninthe Plea Agreenent: “The United
States of Anerica has nade no agreenent with the defendant or his
counsel concerni ng any possi ble sentence.”
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wthin the statutory range, as is the case here. See United
States v. Marshall, 910 F.2d 1241, 1245 (5th Gr. 1990), cert.
denied, 111 S.C. 976 (1991).19 Therefore, “Since the Sentencing
Gui delines do not require that the defendant be given notice when
the Governnment intends to seek Career O fender status,” the

governnent did not need to give Ancira notice in the present case

prior to sentencing him under the guidelines. ld. (footnote
omtted).
V. Erroneous Application of the Sentencing Cuidelines

Ancira argues that the district court failed to apply the
sent enci ng gui delines properly in two respects: (1) his di mni shed
mental capacity entitled himto a downward departure pursuant to
US S G 8§ 5K2.13; and (2) his acceptance of responsibility
entitled himto a dowmward departure under U.S.S.G § 3EL1L.1. Wile
we considered the nmerits of certain clains related to these
contentions in the context of addressing Ancira s allegations of
i neffective assi stance of counsel, supra, we need not do so here as
it iswll-settled that, “Adistrict court’s technical application
of the Cuidelines does not give rise to a constitutional issue”
cogni zabl e under 28 U.S.C. § 2255. United States v. Vaughn, 955
F.2d 367, 368 (5th Cr. 1992). Furthernore, neither has Ancira

denonstrated that these alleged m sapplications of the sentencing

10 The (enhanced) sentence ulti mately i nposed agai nst Anci ra—240
months—falls within the statutory range of 5 to 40 years. See 21
US C 8§ 841(b)(1)(B)
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gui del i nes could not have been raised on direct appeal, nor that
they “resulted in a ‘conplete mscarriage of justice’ or in a
proceeding ‘inconsistent with the rudinmentary demands of fair
procedure.’”” United States v. Prince, 868 F.2d 1379, 1385 (5th
Cr.), cert. denied, 493 U S. 932 (1989) (citation omtted).
VI. Inproper Denial of Evidentiary Hearing

Finally, Ancira conplains that the district court erred when
it denied him an evidentiary hearing. However, an evidentiary
hearing i s not necessary when clai ns brought pursuant to a section
2255 petition may be clearly refuted w thout exam ning evidence
beyond the record. United States v. Smth, 915 F. 2d 959, 964 (5th
Cr. 1990). The record is clearly adequate to dispose fairly of
Ancira’ s present section 2255 all egati ons.

Concl usi on

For the foregoi ng reasons, the judgnent of the district court

AFFI RVED.
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